ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
P.O. Box 25512 Juneau, Alaska 99802‑5512

MARIANNE WILLIAMS,
)



)


Employee,
)
DECISION AND ORDER
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and
)



)

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.,
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)
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)
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)



)


This claim heard at Anchorage, Alaska, on December 12, 1990.  Employee was present and represented by attorney Chancy Croft.  Defendants were represented by attorney Trena Heikes.  The record closed at the end of the hearing.

ISSUES

1. Is Employee's claim for medical benefits barred by either AS 23.30.095 or AS 23.30.105? If not barred, is the need for surgery a result of her compensable injury?


2. Is Employee's claim for disability benefits barred by AS 23.30.105?


3. If Employee's claim for disability benefits is not barred, is she entitled to temporary disability benefits?


4. If Employee's claim is not barred, what are her gross weekly earnings?


5. If Employee's claim is not barred, is she entitled to an award under AS 23.30.145(a) of attorney's fees from Defendants?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENTS

It is undisputed that Employee injured her head and back in the course and scope of her employment as a bus (van) driver for senior citizens on December 11, 1985, when she slipped and fell on the ice.  Employee continued to be employed until June 6, 1986.


Employee testified she quit working for Employer because her back injury caused her pain, she had difficulty helping senior citizens in and out of the bus, and she had difficulty lifting their packages.  She testified this caused her to be less pleasant, and she decided it was best not to work.  The Payroll Action form Employee completed and signed on June 6, 1986, states Employee quit "due to personal reason at home."


Defendants accepted the injury as compensable and paid Employee's medical expenses totalling $5,770.57. Defendants last payment of a medical expense was in April 1988.  Defendants have never paid any time loss benefits to Employee.


After Employee stopped driving for Employer, she worked at her family business, Grizzly Pizza and Gift Shop, which she and her husband purchased in 1977.  The family business includes a camper park, a gas station, restaurant, a liquor store, and a gift shop.  She does all the work involved with the business, such as, cooking, cleaning, pumping gas, and hooking up campers to the park's service facilities.  In her deposition Employee testified that there are spots for four campers in the camper park.  Her husband works at the business too when he is not employed doing construction work.  In addition to working at the family business after the injury, Employee worked as a flag person on two construction projects for a brief period and in a sedentary position relating to the oil‑spill cleanup.


We have copies of Employee's medical records from 1978 to the present.  From 1978 until March 6, 1980, there is no indication of back problems.  On March 6, 1980 she was diagnosed as having low back strain.  She continued to see the doctor periodically after that for two years without mention of back problems.  On March 8, 1982, she saw the doctor for pain in her right ‑abdomen and blood in her stool A barium enema was performed.  The radiologist " [i]ncidentally noted . . . what appears to be lysis of the pars interarticularis at the L5 level and probably Grade ½ spondylolisthesis of L5 on S1."


Although she continued to see the doctor periodically thereafter for a variety of problems, there is no indication of complaints about her back condition until December 20, 1985.  At that time she reported to the doctor that she had suffered low back pain for about three weeks. She was treated by Dallas Nelson, D.C., for two years.  He noted her spondylolisthesis. on February 10, 1986, he noted her pain had decreased, but her leg was going numb.


Employee testified at the hearing that she worked at the family business in the summer of 1986, but she did not work as much as she had in the years before her injury.  She has never hired anyone to help her, but her sister has worked occasionally. in addition, of course, her husband works at the business when he is not employed in construction.  Employee also has three sons, who are now ages 20, 18, and 13, who have helped with the business duties.


The first report in which Dr. Nelson addressed Employee's ability to work was his August 4, 1986, Physician's Report.  He indicated she could work at her regular job.


In June 1987 Employee had a CT scan of the lumbar spine.  The scan showed Employee had a mild disk degeneration with slight bulging of the disk material at L4‑5.  At L5‑S1 anterolisthesis and bilateral pars defects were apparent with severe reactive sclerosis. By that time her spondylolisthesis had progressed to Grade II.


Employee saw J. Michael James, M.D.
, in June 1987.  He reported in June 18, 1987, chart note that he believed her spondylolisthesis pre‑existed her fall, and her present problems either represented an exacerbation or a facet syndrome.  Because she lived so far from medical care he believed it was best to handle her therapy as a home exercise program.  He believed surgery was not necessary, and she would not have any permanent impairment as a result of the injury.


Employee continued to see Dr. Nelson two to three times a month for adjustments, and he continued to release her to work at her regular job until his report of October 1, 1987.  At that time he indicated she was released for modified employment, not to lift over 25 pounds.   In December 1987, Employee was reporting left leg numbness to Dr. Nelson.  Employee continued to see Dr. Nelson for adjustments two to three times a month into early 1988.


On February 27, 1988, Employee saw Edward Voke, M.D., at Defendants' request, At that time she was still complaining of low back pain with pain radiating into the left leg to the knee.  Dr. Voke recommended periodic chiropractic care, since that was the only type of treatment available near her home, but chiropractic care should stop as soon as possible.  He discussed surgery, noted that Employee had been able to get by with conservative care, and that the exercises Dr. James had prescribed were most appropriate.  He thought she was medically stable.


Employee continued to see Dr. Nelson periodically. on March 15, 1988, Defendants wrote to Employee offering to settle her claim.  Defendants copied the letter to Dr. Nelson to advise him that "the statute of limitations has run on your claim."


On April 6, 1988, Dr. Nelson wrote to Ross Brudenell, M.D.
, about Employee.  Dr. Nelson believed Employee was not a surgical candidate, but she had not regained her pre‑injury status. He indicated Employee was seeking another opinion.


Dr. Brudenell's April 7, 1988, letter indicates he did not believe Employee was a surgical candidate at that time, but might need surgery at some time in the future.  He believed she required ongoing treatment.  He recommended some anti‑inflammatories.  His April 12, 1988, Physician's Report states that he believes she could work at her regular employment.


In May 1988 Defendants filed a notice of controversion denying all benefits.  The reason given for the controversion was that the statute of limitations had run.


On July 7, 1988, we received Employee's claim for benefits. in that claim, she requested permanent partial disability benefits, medical costs, and attached a letter more fully describing her problems.  Later Employee retained Mr. Croft to represent her.  Her claim has been amended to request, among other benefits, temporary benefits from September 1988.


On September 19, 1989, Employee saw R. Van Camp, M.D., for a physical examination for Alaska school bus drivers.  He stated that Employee's back, extremities, and joints were normal.  In his Physician's Certification he stated: "I performed the physical examination of the above named individual as designated by this form in Glennallen.  I further certify that based on this examination, that the applicant is: Qualified [to operate a school bus]."


Employee continued to see Dr. Nelson about once a month through 1988 and into 1989.  On November 7, 1989, Employee returned to Dr. Brunedell with complaints of increased back and leg pain.  She had worked at a Sedentary job through the summer and had been able to work despite the increased pain.  He stated, "I believe that she should seriously consider surgical treatment for this problem now and she would like to do so. . . . " He prescribed some medication.


Employee returned to Dr. Brudenell on November 28, 1989, and told Dr. Brudenell that the medication was only marginally effective.  She was experiencing paresthesia in her legs, usually in the left leg.  He stated in his chart notes: "I believe surgical treatment is indicated for her if she is to improve her life and work style to any appreciable degree."


Employee's claim proceeded through pre‑hearings and requests for a hearing, Eventually in 1990 the parties reached an agreed settlement of her claim.  However, we found the agreed settlement was not in Employee's best interest and refused to approve the settlement.  Williams v. Copper River Native Assoc.., AWCB Decision No. 90‑0211 (August 29, 1990).  In connection with the settlement, Defendants submitted the August 1990 affidavits of Dr. Voke and Dr. James.  Neither doctor had reexamined Employee since their respective examinations in 1988 and 1987.  Dr. Voke stated in his affidavit that he believed Employee was medically stable at the time he examined her in February 1988, that her injury had caused a lumbar strain, and the strain had resolved.  He believed, based on his February 1988 examination, that her problems in 1989 and 1990 were the result of the continued degeneration of her pre‑existing spondylolisthesis or "some other factor." He did not believe her 1985 injury continued to be a substantial factor in her current need for medical treatment.


Dr. James stated in his August 6, 1990, affidavit that he had treated Employee in 1987.  He had last seen her on July 28, 1987.  He thought she was medically stable and that her lumbar strain had resolved at that time.  Based on his comparison of Employee's 1985 and 1987 x‑rays, he believed her 1985 fall did not permanently worsen her condition.  He stated that Employee's present problems are the result of a new injury, an aggravation, or the natural progression of her preexisting condition.  He also stated:

Finally, it is my opinion that Ms. Williams' condition does not warrant surgery, based on Dr. Brudenell's most recent reports.  Should she elect to undergo surgery, it is my opinion . . . that such surgery would not be due to the December 1985 injury, but due to other mechanism taking place since I last examined her in July 1987.


After we refused to approve the settlement, Dr. Brudenell wrote a letter to Employee's attorney stating:

I positively believe Ms. Williams' present condition is work‑related based primarily on the history she gave me in April, 1988, which indicated that before her fall in December 1985, she never had any back or leg problems at all and, following that injury, she began having aching lumbar pain with intermittent pain radiating into the left lower extremity . . . . I have had many patients who's spondylolisthesis or spondylolysis was asymptomatic until a specific trauma event.  Certainly I believe that her situation fits the legal definition of 51% contribution to the present condition.

The degree to which her present condition is disabling is, I believe, reasonably well documented by a physical capacities evaluation performed September 11, 1990 . . . . [S]he can lift only 10 pounds continuously.  She is able to bend, climb, twist, crawl and reach above . . . shoulder level continuously, but can squat only occasionally [H]er consecutive sitting tolerance was only 2 hours whereas standing and walking tolerances were 8 hours . . . .

Therefore, I believe she could be released to a work effort which conformed to the conditions as outline in the physical capacities evaluation . . . . I believe she will have continuous symptoms at her present level unless she decides to take some drastic action such as surgical treatment and endure the risks associated with that treatment.

(Brudenell September 11, 1990, letter).


Defendants had Employee examined by Leon Wiltse, M.D., on November 13, 1990.  Dr. Wiltse is a board‑certified orthopaedic surgeon.  He believed she is a candidate for a surgical fusion.  He indicated:

She is running her own lodge and is able to do this.  In asking about the fusion, she says she would rather wait on this.  There is no harm in going along with it indefinitely as long as she feels she ran put up with the pain.

The spondylolisthesis existed long before her injury in 1985.  It probably came on when she was in the first grade in school . . . .

Since there is no solid evidence of her being treated for her low back before the incident of slipping on the ice in 1985, the condition causing her disability is secondary to the accident.  It's the disability that counts, and the disability is secondary to the pain.  She worked normally for most of the first 34 years of her life with the spondylolisthesis and had no trouble.  Then after the accident, she has had continuous trouble.  This is not an uncommon story.

(Wiltse November 21, 1990, letter).


Employee believes all of Dr. Brudenell Is charges have been paid.  However, she believes Dr. Nelson has not been paid in full by Defendants for his treatments.  She seeks payment by Defendants of his charges.  In addition she seeks temporary partial disability (TPD) benefits from September 1988 through May 1989 when she began to work full‑time for Norcon on the oil spill clean‑up.  She seeks TPD again after November 1989 when she quit working for Norcon and started receiving unemployment insurance (U.I.) benefits from the State of Alaska.  After May 1990 when her U. I. benefits stopped, she again seeks TPD benefits.


Employee contends her gross weekly earnings (GWE) for compensation purposes should be based on the replacement cost for her services at the family business, She computes the replacement costs at $5.00 an hour plus room and board.  She estimates the room and board charges would be $20.00 per day.  The hourly pay would equal $200.00 a week but, because of the isolated location of their business, room and board would have to be provided seven days a week.  Thus, the total replacement cost would be $340.00 a week.


At the time of the injury, Employee drove a senior citizens van.  She testified in her December 1989 deposition that it was a six to nine person van; at the hearing Employee testified she drove a 16 person van.  In her deposition Employee testified the van was fairly new, had an automatic transmission and power steering. she drove seven and one‑half hours per day, five days a week.  The longest single period of time she sat while driving was two hours.  In addition to driving, she also carried the senior citizen's purchases if they could not.  On the average, she would carry sacks of groceries weighing 20 pounds.  On one occasion she had to carry a 50‑pound bag of dog food. (Williams Dep. at 46 ‑ 50; 92 ‑ 95).


After driving the van for most of the day, she would go home and open the family business if her husband was not there to run it in her absence.  She would work at the family business from about 5 p.m. until anywhere between 10 p.m. and 1 a.m. (Id. at 31).


Employee testified that in the summer of 1988 her condition began to deteriorate.  Although she had worked full‑time at the lodge in 1987 and up into the summer of 1988, by fall she was not able to work 12 to 17 hours a day.  Of course, business is slower in the winter but she felt she was not able to handle the same duties as she had before the injury.


In 1988 she worked several days at two different times as a flag person for two different construction companies. (Id. at 44).  In May 1989, she began working for Norcon as a non‑working foreman of a crew working an the oil spill clean up. (Id.) . She did this for seven months.  She traveled by bus to the various sites and did paperwork on the bus.  She worked 12 hours per day, seven days a week.  She testified that she could physically handle the job most of the time, but riding on the bus was hard.  She was in pain all the time; she took aspirin and Excedrin for her back pain.  She earned about $17.00 an hour. (Id. at 19 ‑ 24).


She did not explain what happened to the family business while she was working for Norcon.  She testified in her December 1989 deposition that the family business was closed in August of 1989, with plans to reopen in the Spring of 1990. (Id. at 33).


Employee submitted copies of her tax returns for several years before the injury and up through 1989
. Excluding the wages earned by her husband and not including the depreciation expenses taken for her business
 , they reflect earnings
  as follows:

YEAR
GR0SS
GR0SS
PROFIT/
WAGES


RECEIPTS
INCOME
<LOSS>

1980
$51,312
$15,430
<$ 1,715>
‑0‑

1981
?
?
?
‑0‑

1982
32,516
14,723
<4,015>
‑0‑

1983
40,723
15,595
< 1,941>
‑0‑

1984
34,083
10,659
< 4,664>
‑0‑

1985
83,625
26,494
6,924
$3,010

1986
70,360
23,705
6,741
5,729

1987
73,900
20,424
4,195
‑0‑

1988
60,099
18,248
< 3,371>
3,921

1989
25,619
6,850
< 5,933>
46,856


Defendants argue that Employee knew in December 1985 that she was injured on the job.  Therefore, because she did not file a claim until 1988, her claim is barred by AS 23.30.105. Defendants argue that the statute of limitations in AS 23.30.095 for medical benefits is also a bar to her claim for medical benefits.


Alternately, Defendants argue that "common sense dictates" that her personal work at the family business after the injury of 12 to 16 hours a day aggravated her condition and is the cause of her disability, if any.  Defendants also argue that Employee is not disabled because the business has been just as profitable (or lost as much money) after the injury as it did before the injury.  Furthermore, the medical evidence indicates she is able to drive a bus so there is no disability.


Employee's attorney seeks minimum statutory attorney's fees under AS 23.30‑145(a) based on the disability and medical benefits we award.  Employee's attorney cites Harding v. Placid Oil Company, AWCB Decision No. Unassigned, (Case No. 84‑0269) (December 11, 1990), as support for his position.  Employee's attorney did not file an affidavit itemizing the services he provided.


Defendants argue that under subsection 145(a) attorney's fees can be awarded only on disability benefits, not medical benefits.  Accordingly they argue that, if Employee prevails, we should deny fees on the medical costs.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO MEDICAL CARE AT DEFENDANTS' EXPENSE?


a. IS EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM FOR MEDICAL BENEFITS BARRED?


Employee seeks payment of the surgery recommended by Dr. Brudenell.  Dr. Wiltse has concurred in that recommendation.  Employee also seeks payment of Dr. Nelson Is charges, but was act sure which of his charges, if any, remain unpaid.


AS 23.30.095(a) provides in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment . . . for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee . . . . it shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two‑year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require. . . .


Clearly, after two years from the date of injury we may authorize treatment necessary for the process of recovery.  "if the treatment is necessary to prevent the deterioration of the patient Is condition and allow his continuing employment, it is compensable within the meaning of the statute." Wild v. Cook Inlet Pipeline, No. 3 AN‑80‑8083 (Alaska Super.  Ct.  Jan. 17, 1983); See accord Dorman v. State, No. 3 AN‑83‑551 at 9 (Alaska Super.  Ct.  February 22, 1984).


Because Employee did not specify which charges of Dr. Nelson's remain unpaid, it is impossible for us to make any findings regarding the treatment. we do act know when the treatment was provided so we cannot determine whether there is any reason that it might be barred.  Even if it is not time barred, we are unable to make findings regarding the reasonableness and necessity of the treatment We are unable to make a decision without having evidence to support the decision and from which we can make findings.  Accordingly, we must deny and dismiss this request.


Regarding the request for surgery, we find adequate evidence that the treatment is likely to improve Employee's condition and will prevent deterioration of her condition.  This is based on the recommendations of Drs.  Brudenell and Wiltse.  We find Dr. Voke's opinion regarding Employee's condition should be given less weight because his opinion is based on an examination that was conducted almost two and one‑half years ago.  He examined her about one and one‑half years before Dr. Brudenell made his recommendation for surgery.  Furthermore there is no indication that he reviewed any of the more recent medical reports before making his affidavit in the summer of 1990,


We find Dr. James' opinion should also be given less weight.  Not only has it been over three years since he last saw her, but it is obvious from his affidavit that he incorrectly read the medical records which he reviewed in August 1990.  At item number 9 he states that, based on Dr. Brudenell's most recent reports, he does not believe surgery is necessary.  Either he is saying Dr. Brudenell did not believe surgery is necessary, which is totally false, or he is saying he disagrees with Dr. Brudenell's opinion that her findings warrant surgery.  In view of Dr. James' specialty, physical rehabilitative medicine, compared to Dr. Brudenell specialty in orthopaedic surgery and Dr. Wiltse's board‑certification as an orthopaedic surgeon, we find Dr. James is less qualified in diagnosing and making recommendations regarding Employee's condition.


We disagree with Defendants' argument that there must be some time limit on their obligation to provide medical benefits.  Other areas of the Act specify time restrictions,
 but subsection 95(a) does not.  Had the legislature intended a time limit on medical benefits, they could have written one into the Act.


Defendants also seem to argue that AS 23.30.105 bars Employee's claim for medical benefits.  At the time of Employee's injury, AS 23.30.105(a)
 provided:

The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature or his disability and its relation to his employment and after disablement.  However, the maximum time for filing the claim in any event other than arising out of an occupational disease shall be four years from the date of the injury, and the right to compensation for death is barred unless a claim therefore is filed within one year after the death, except that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment.  It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding.


The four‑year time limit for filing claims in the second sentence of subsection 105(a) was rendered inapplicable by the Supreme Court in W.R. Grasle v. AWCB,  517 P.2d 999 (Alaska 1974). The remainder of this subsection provides a two‑year limit for the filing of claims from the time of the injury, the time of disablement, or the time of manifestation of latent defects, whichever comes last. Id.


We have long held that subsection 105(a) and subsection 95(a) provide two different statutes of limitations ‑‑ one for time loss benefits and one for medical benefits.  Thus, even though a claim for time loss (compensation) benefits may be barred, we can still authorize continued medical care.  Stepovich v. H & S Earthmovers, AWCB Decision No. 85‑0229 (August 1, 1985); James v. City of Fairbanks, AWCB Decision No. 85‑0357 (December 13, 1985); Lee v. Fluor Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 87‑0096 (April 17, 1987).


We believe this interpretation is justified by the wording of former subsection 105(a) which uses the phrase "right to compensation for disability . . . .. versus the language of subsection 95(a) which permits us to authorize medical care beyond two years after the date of injury.  We believe this distinction is further justified by the separate definitions of "compensation" at As 23.30.265(8) and "medical and related benefits" at AS 23.30.265(20).


This interpretation is also consistent with Professor Larson's opinion at 2 A. Larson, Workmen's Compensation‑law Section 61.00, at 10‑665 to 10‑666 (1989) that "unlimited medical benefits are economically the soundest benefit; that over the long term, they become the least expensive." Professor Larson also notes that in 44 states medical benefits are essentially unlimited as to duration and amount.


Of course, we have held that if an employee fails to pursue a claim for medical benefits, the doctrine of laches may bar the claim. Reel v. New England Fish Company, AWCB Decision No. 84‑0005 (January 11, 1984).  A claim for medical benefits could also be barred by AS 23.30.110(c) if the claim was controverted after July 17, 1982 (the date subsection 110(c) became law), and if the controversion is filed on a board prescribed form.  James, AWCB Decision No. 85‑0357.


As we ruled earlier, we could not make a decision on the request for Dr. Nelson's charges because we lacked information; the charges might be barred by a laches defense.  As to Employee's request for surgery, this is not the case.  Dr. Brudenell first recommended surgery in late 1989; Employee's claim had been filed in 1988.  We find that neither subsection 95(a), subsection 105(a), or laches bars Employee's claim for surgical benefits.


b. IS THE NEED FOR SURGERY CAUSED BY THE COMPENSABLE INJURY?


Of course, we must now address whether the need for surgery arises out of the compensable 1985 injury.


AS 23.30.120(a) provides:

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter;

(2) sufficient notice of the claim has been given;

(3) the injury was not proximately caused by the intoxication of the injured employee . . . .


In Burgess Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 313 (Alaska 1981), the Alaska Supreme Court held that the employee must establish a preliminary link between the injury and the employment for  the presumption to attach. 623 P.2d at 316.  "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,” medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection," Id. at 316 (quoting Commercial Union Cos. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261, 1267 (Alaska 1976)."


Once the employee makes a prima facie case of work‑relatedness the presumption of compensability attaches and shifts the burden of production to the employer. Id. at 870.  To make a prima facie case the employee must show that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it.


To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence the injury was not work‑related. Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  The Alaska Supreme Court "has consistently defined substantial evidence' as such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion'." Miller, 577 P.2d at 10406 (quoting Thornton, 411 P.2d at 210).  In Fireman's Fund American Insurance Cos. v. Gomes, 544 P.2d 1013, 1016 (Alaska 1976), the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: (1) produce affirmative evidence the injury was not work‑related or (2) eliminate all reasonable possibilities the injury was work‑related.


If the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury was not work‑related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Id. at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true." Saxton V. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


Under the Act a pre‑existing condition is compensable if the industrial injury aggravates, accelerates, or combines with the pre‑existing condition to cause disability.  Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Comp.  Bd, 411 P.2d 209 (Alaska 1966).  Based on the presumption in AS 23.30.120(a), "the employer [must] present substantial evidence that the present back disability was not the result of the work injury." Kodiak Oilfield Haulers v. Adams, 777 P.2d 1145, 1150 (Alaska 1989)


In Fairbanks N. Star Bor. v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987), the court discussed the employee's burden of proof in a case involving a preexisting condition.  "[T]he claimant need only prove that "but for" the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree." Id. at 533.


Another longstanding principle that must be included in our analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.  Land &‑Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984); Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co, 617 P.2d 755, 758 (Alaska 1980); Miller v. ITT, Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978); Beauchamp Employers v. Liability Assurance Co., 477 P.2d 933, 996‑7 (Alaska 1970).


We find Employee has the benefit of the presumption not only under the Adams analysis, but also the medical opinions of Drs.  Brudenell and Wiltse are sufficient to establish a preliminary link and raise the presumption.  We find the affidavits of Drs.  James and Voke overcome the presumption.  We then weigh the evidence and find that Employee has proven her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
 As we discussed earlier, we give the opinions of Drs. James and Voke less weight than those of Drs. Brudenell and Wiltse.  Accordingly, we conclude the need for surgery is compensable, and Defendants must pay the medical expenses associated with surgery.

II. IS EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO DISABILITY BENEFITS?


a. IS EMPLOYEE DISABLED?


The Alaska Workers, Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury in the same or any other employment." AS 23.30.265(10). The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality," AS 23.30.185. At the time of Employee's injury, the Act did not define temporary total disability (TTD).  In Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board, 17 Alaska 658, 665 (D.  Alaska 1958) (quoting Gorman v. Atlantic Gulf & Pacific Co., 178 Md. 71, 12 A.2d 525, 529 (1940)), the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as "the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work." The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total disability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.

17 Alaska at 666 (citations omitted) . In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974), the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as Such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work‑connected injury or illness.

(Emphasis added).  This language was cited with approval in Bailey v. Litwin Corp., 713 P.2d 249, 253 (Alaska 1986).


From the above quoted language, we conclude that to be temporarily disabled and entitled to compensation an injured employee must have both a medical impairment and a loss of earning capacity.  We must look to Employee's medical reports to determine if there is medical evidence of an impairment to work.  Then, we must determine whether Employee suffered a compensable disability, that is, a loss of earning capacity.


For certain periods of time it is irrelevant whether there is medical evidence of an impairment to work because it is so clear that Employee had no loss of earning capacity.  For example, Employee continued to work at her job after her injury, and until June 1986.  Thus, we find that during that period Employee had no loss of earning capacity.  Also, from May until about October 1989 Employee worked for Norcon.  In that job she worked 12 hours per day, seven days a week and rode the bus between job sites.  She testified she did no lifting.  She earned $46,836.25 It is clear that during this period she did not suffer an inability to earn the same wage as she had at the time of the injury.


The years in between June 1986 and May 1989 require further analysis of the medical evidence and her wages at time of injury in order to determine whether she suffered a disability.


According to Dr. Nelson's report, Employee was able to work at her regular employment without restriction until his report of October 1, 1987, stated that she was limited to work which did not require lifting over 25 pounds.  That restriction remained in effect through his report of March 8, 1988.  We have no reports from Dr. Nelson for the remainder of 1988. in his February 2, 1989, report, Dr. Nelson did not comment on Employee's ability to work.


Employee saw Dr. Brudenell on April 7, 1988.  In his April 12, 1988, report Dr. Brudenell indicated Employee was released for regular work.


Employee saw Dr. Van Camp in September 1989 for a physical for a bus driver's license, on the portion of the form which she completed, she stated that she had hurt her back while working and that she had received disability compensation. (items 6 and 8, Physical Examination for Alaska School Bus Drivers).  Dr. Van Camp completed his portion of that form stating her back was normal and he certified she was qualified to operate a school bus.


In his September 11, 1990, letter Dr. Brudenell reviewed the physical capacities evaluation (PCE) and indicated Employee could sit for up to two hours consecutively and could lift up to ten pounds Continuously.  A copy of the PCE was attached to his report; it states that she should never lift over 35 pounds.  She can lift up to 20 pounds occasionally.  In the PCE form, "occasionally" is defined as up to 33 percent of the time in an eight‑hour day.  In his November 21, 1990, letter Dr. Wiltse noted.‑ "She is running her own lodge and is able to do this."


In her deposition Employee described her job duties as a van driver for senior citizens.  She testified that the longest period of time she ever had to sit was two hours.  She carried sacks of groceries which weighed about 20 pounds, perhaps up to 20 times a day.  She did not testify regarding how long or how far she carried these groceries. (Williams Dep. at 92 ‑ 95).  Because she is driving senior citizens, some of whom would be disabled and unable to walk great distances, we assume that she would be able to park close to the passenger home and close to the grocery store.  Accordingly, it is doubtful that she would have carried the 20‑pound sacks for more than a total of two and one‑half hours out of her seven and one‑half hour work day.


The only time she lifted over 20 pounds for her work was when she carried a 50‑pound sack of dog food.  Although this one time event would exceed her lifting limitations, we believe she could instruct the van passengers to purchase smaller packages, thus staying within her 20‑pound lifting restriction.


Based on the above, we find Employee failed to prove a medical impairment that would preclude her from working as a bus or senior citizen's van driver and earning the wages she earned at the time of her injury.


b. IS EMPLOYEE'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY BENEFITS TIME BARRED?


Although we have found Employee has not suffered a disability to date, if she undergoes the proposed surgery it is likely that she will be disabled.  Defendants argue that her claim is barred by AS 23.30.105. As we noted earlier, at the time of Employee's injury, AS 23.30.105(a) provided:

The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of his disability and its relation to his employment and after disablement.  However, the maximum time for filing the claim in any event other than arising our of an occupational disease shall be four years from the date of the injury, and the right to compensation for death is barred unless a claim therefore is filed within one year after the death, except that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment. it is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding.

 (Emphasis added).


In 3 A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation Section 78.41 (1983), Professor Larson discusses the issues to be considered in determining whether the statute of limitations for filing a claim for workers' compensation has begun to run.

The time period for notice of claim does not begin to run until the claimant, as a reasonable person, should recognize the nature, seriousness and probable compensable character of his injury or disease.

Id. at 15‑155.

As to the nature of the injury or illness: Plainly claimant should be expected to display no greater diagnostic skill than any other uninformed layman confronted with the early symptoms of a progressive condition.  Indeed, it has been held that the reasonableness of claimant's conduct should be judged in the light of his own education and intelligence, not in the light of the standard of some hypothetical reasonable person of the kind familiar to tort law.

Id. at 15‑206 to 15‑207.

The second of the three features of his condition the claimant must have had reason to be aware of is the seriousness of his trouble.  This is a salutary requirement, since any other rule would force employees to rush in with claims for every minor ache, pain, or symptom.  So, if claimant knows he has some shortness of breath, a back injury, or even a hernia, failure to file a claim promptly may be excused if claimant had no reason to believe the condition serious.  This is particularly clear when a physician has led him to believe that the injury is trivial or that the symptoms indicate no serious trouble.  At the same time, if the claimant's symptoms of compensable disability are sufficiently extreme, even a doctor's statement that they were trivial has been held insufficient to offset the claimant I s own direct knowledge or the obvious condition.

(Emphasis added).  Id. at 15‑213 through 15‑216.


Although Dr. Nelson restricted Employee's lifting in October 1987, he never indicated she should not drive a bus. in 1989, she passed the physical to drive a bus.  The limitations identified in the 1990 PCE are compatible with her job duties.  We have found above that she has not yet suffered a disability due to her injury.  For these reasons, AS 23.30.105(a) is not a bar to her claim for disability benefits; she filed the claim before becoming disabled.


b. WHAT WERE EMPLOYEE'S WAGES AT THE TIME OF INJURY?


Having found Employee's claim is not time barred, we must now decide what her GWE were at the time of the injury in order for TTD benefits to be computed if she becomes disabled.


At the time of Employee's injury, AS 23.30.220(a) provided in part,

The spendable weekly wage of an injured employee at the time of an injury is the basis for computing compensation.  It is the employee's gross weekly earnings minus payroll tax deductions.  The gross weekly earnings shall be calculated as follows;

(1) The gross weekly earnings are computed by dividing by 100 the gross earnings of the employee in the two calendar years immediately preceding the injury.

(2) If the board determines that the gross weekly earnings at the time of injury cannot be fairly calculated under (1) of this subsection, the board may determine the employee's gross weekly earnings for calculating compensation by considering the nature of the employee's work and work history.


The Alaska Supreme Court has commented on the 1983 amendment to AS 23.30.220 in several recent opinions. in discussing section 220's history, the Court stated in Phillips v. Houston Contracting, Inc., 732 P.2d 544, 546, n.6 (Alaska 1987):

During the past decade, the statute’s emphasis has shifted from present earnings to past earnings as the determinate of earning capacity.  In 1977, the legislature repealed AS 23.30.220(l). Under the 1977 amendments, the average weekly was generally based on earnings during one of the three calendar years preceding the injury, without regard to earnings at the time of the injury. . . . in 1983, the legislature rewrote the section so that the compensation rate was based on average earnings during the preceding two calendar years . . . . The legislative history suggests that this shift in emphasis was "reasoned and intentional." (Cites omitted).


More recently in Phillips v. Nabors Alaska Drilling, Inc. , 740 P.2d 457 (Alaska 1987), the Court noted:

However, while the earlier version of the statute provided that the alternative wage calculation was to be based on "the usual wage for similar service rendered by paid employees under similar circumstances," former AS 23.30.220(3), the new statute provides that "the board may determine the employee's gross weekly earnings for calculating compensation by considering the nature of the employee's work and work history." AS 23.30.220(a)(2). The distinction emphasizes the point that the AWCB has considerable discretion to determine gross weekly earnings under subsection (a)(2).


Although Peck v. Alaska Aeronautical, Inc., 756 P.2d 282, (Alaska 1988), interprets a much older version of section 220, the general discussion about wage calculation appears relevant to all cases:

An estimate of earning capacity is a prediction of what an employee's earnings would have been had he not been injured. . . . in making an award for temporary disability, the [Board] will ordinarily he concerned with whether an applicant would have continued working at a given wage for the duration of the disability.  In making a permanent award, long‑term earning history is a reliable guide in predicting earning capacity.

Peck at 286‑87 (quoting Deuser v. State, 697 P.2d 647, 649‑50 (Alaska 1985), (quoting Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Industrial Accident Comm'n, 371 P.2d 281, 284 (Cal. 1962)).


The Court went on to state: "As Professor Larson explained, [his I disability reaches into the future. . . . his loss as a result of injury must be thought of in terms of the impact of probable future earnings, perhaps for the rest of his life."' Peck at 287.


In all of the many recent cases filed by the Court which address the wage calculation issue, the Court has always compared documented wages at the time of injury (or time of disability if they were greater than at time of injury) with documented historical earnings to determine which is a more reliable basis for predicting the future loss.  This is true even if the duration of the disability is unknown or long‑term.  Peck; Phillips, 732 P.2d 544; Johnson v. RCA/OMS, Inc., 681 P.2d 905 (Alaska 1984).


The Court has emphasized that an employee's historical earnings are the starting point of our inquiry under section 220.  Accordingly, we first determine Employee's historical earnings under subsection 220(a)(1).


During the two years before injury, Employee was primarily self‑employed.  In 1983 she‑received no wages from an employer.  In 1984 she received $830 in wages from employment. in 1983 the family business reported a net loss of $1,941.  In 1984 the family business reported a net loss of $4,664.  We find that Employee's historical earnings would only entitle her to the minimum compensation rate of $110 a week.


In 1985 Employee worked at the family business and also worked for Employer, apparently starting in October 1985. (Williams Dep. at 45).  In 1985 her family business had a net profit of $6,924 and she earned wages of $3,010.  In 1986, Employee worked one‑half the year for Employer.  She earned wages of $5,729 and the family business had a net profit of $6,741.


As we discussed above, at the time of the injury Employee worked seven and one‑half hours per day, five days a week.  She was paid $7.35 per hour. (Id. at 50).  This meant she earned $275.63 a week.  Employee testified that she enjoyed the job, planned to continue working in the job, and the job still exists.


Of course, Employee still worked at the family business after she finished working for Employer. (Id.). Separating out the monetary results of her efforts, as opposed to the monetary results of her husband's efforts or their joint efforts, in running the business is difficult.  Because the business is jointly owned and because we lack any better evidence, we find it is fairest to apportion the monetary results equally between Employee and her husband.  In 1985 and 1986 when she worked both for Employer and in her business, the business' net profits were $6,924 and $6,741 respectively. Subsequently the business reverted to losing money for tax purposes. of course the loss was the biggest in 1989 when both Employee and her husband worked on the oil spill clean‑up and closed the business during the winter.


We find the fairest method of calculating wages to include her work and work history is to use her wages from Employer, plus one‑half the average annual net profit or loss from the family business for the years 1984 through 1988.
 The net profit or loss for those years totaled $14,489.  One‑half of that sum would be $7,245, or $1,811 a year, which is an additional $34.83 to add to the $275.63 she earned from Employer.  We find her GWE are $310.46. As she was married and entitled to claim five dependents at the time of the injury, her weekly TTD benefit must be based on that status.

Because we have denied Employee's request for temporary disability benefits, we must also deny her request for interest.

III. IS EMPLOYERS ATTORNEY ENTITLED TO FEES UNDER AS 23.30.145(a)?


AS 23.30.145 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 per cent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services he paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . . In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.

(b) if an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or‑fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fees.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


We find the claim was controverted both by a controversion notice and by Defendants' actions.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 59 2 P. 2d 352 (Alaska 1979).


The fee due under subsection 145 (a) is f or compensation benefits awarded, not medical benefits. See AS 23.30.265(8) and AS 23.30.265(20); State of Alaska v. Brown, 600 P.2d 9 (Alaska 1979).


In this case, we have not yet awarded any compensation.  Of course, if Employee becomes disabled and entitled to disability compensation, Defendants must pay Employee's attorney in accordance with As 23.30.145(a).


Employee's attorney cited Harding, AWCB Decision No.84‑0269), in support of his request for a fee under subsection 145(a) based on medical benefits Employee receives.  We find that case does not support his position.


We have adopted 8 AAC 45.180(b)
 to help us implement subsection 145(a) . Under 8 AAC 45.180(b), an affidavit itemizing the legal services provided must be filed at least three working days before the hearing if a fee in excess of the statutory minimum is sought.  We find Employer’s attorney has not filed the necessary affidavit.


In Harding, at 2, we noted that the attorney filed an affidavit in accordance with 8 AAC 45.180(b) when requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum provided in AS 23.30.145(a) . In a footnote we noted:

Actually, fees for medical benefits are payable under AS 23.30.145(b). However, we have essentially chosen to award a reasonable fee [a fee in excess of the statutory minimum] under the nature‑length‑complexity‑benefits test [ in subsection 145(a) ] . Since our regulation use[ s j that test to determine a fee under AS 23.30.145(b), 8 AAC 45.180(d)(2), it makes no difference whether we apply subsection (a) or (b),


Unlike the attorney in Harding, the attorney in this case is requesting only the statutory minimum fee.  Unlike the attorney in Harding, the attorney in this case did not file an affidavit in support of a fee in excess of the statutory minimum.  As we noted in Harding, fees for obtaining an employee's medical benefits are governed by subsection 145(b). Because Employee's attorney did not comply with the requirements of AS 23. 30. 145 (a) and 8 AAC 45. 180 (b) to seek a fee in excess of the statutory minimum, or with AS 23.30.145(b) or 8 AAC 45.180(d,)
 we must deny his request for an award under subsection 145(a) based on the medical benefits we award to Employee.

ORDER

1. Employee's claim for payment of Dr. Nelson's charges is denied and dismissed.


2. Defendants shall pay Employee's medical expenses related to the surgery that has been recommended by Dr. Brudenell and Wiltse.


3. Employee's request for temporary disability benefits from 1988 to the present, as well as interest thereon, is denied and dismissed.


4. Employee's gross weekly earnings are determined to be $310.


5. Defendants shall pay Employee temporary disability benefits if she has the recommended surgery and if it causes disability.


6. Employee's attorney's request for minimum statutory attorney's fees based on the medical benefits we have awarded is denied and dismissed.


7. If Employee suffers a compensable disability in the future, Defendants shall pay Employee's attorney the minimum statutory attorney's fee provided under AS 23.30.145(a) based on all disability benefits paid to Employee.


DATED at Anchorage, Alaska this 21 st day of December 1990,

ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

/s/ Rebecca Ostrom
Rebecca Ostrom ,Designated Chairman

/s/ Joanne R. Rednall
Joanne R. Rednall, Member

/s/ David Richards

David W. Richard, Member

RJO:rjo

It compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 20 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days after the due date unless an interlocutory injunction staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES

A compensation order may be appealed through proceedings in Superior Court brought by a part in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

A compensation order becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board, and unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted, it becomes final on the 31st day after it is filed.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and order in the matter of Marianne Williams, employee/applicant, v. Copper River Native Assoc., employer, and Alaska National insurance Co., insurer/defendants; Case No. 8532667; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 21 st day of December, 1990.

Clerk

SNO

� We know Dr. James because he has testified both in person and by deposition in other claims we have heard. He specializes in physical rehabilitative medicine; he is not an orthopaedic surgeon.


� Dr. Brudenell specializes in orthopaedic surgery.  We are aware of him because he has been involved in treating other injured workers whose claims we have heard, and has testified in other cases.





� Employee only submitted a copy of one page of the amended tax return for 1981, so the chart lacks information for that year.





� We have always excluded the depreciation allowance permitted by the Internal Revenue Service when computing earnings from self�employment.  Although this is an allowable deduction, it is act an out�of�pocket expense.  It is a fiction, since a business make actually be appreciating for resale purposes while it would be depreciating for tax purposes.





� Employee also had income in 1989 from U. I. benefits of $1, 146.





� TTD, TPD, some permanent disability benefits, and certain survivor benefits have either time limits or monetary amounts limiting Defendants' obligations.  Those portions of the Act are clearly different than subsection 95 (a) that authorizes us to assess the costs of medical treatment against Defendants even if it has been more than two years from the date of injury.


� AS 23. 30. 005 (a) was amended effective July 1, 1988.  However, that amendment does not Apply to these claims.  Section 48, Chapter 79, SLA 1988





� Contrary to Defendants' assertion, we do not believe we can rely upon "common sense" in this complex medical case to determine that her present problem must be the result of something other than her injury.


� The statutory language of 220(A)(2) does not permit us to adopt Employee's argument that we compute her GWE by using the cost of replacing her services at the family business.


� 8 AAC 45.180(b) provides in part:


	A fee under As 23.30.145(a) will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee; . . . . An attorney seeking a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23�30�145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and (2) if a hearing is scheduled, file the affidavit at least three working days before the hearing on the claim for which the services were rendered; at the hearing the attorney may supplement the affidavit by testifying about the hours expended and the extent and character of the work performed after the affidavit was filed.  If the request and affidavit are not in accordance with this subsection, the board will deny the request for a fee in excess of the statutory fee, and will award the minimum statutory fee.





� 8 AAC 45.180(d) provides in part:


	A request for a fee under AS 23.30.145(b) must be verified by an affidavit itemizing the hours expended as well as the extent and character of the work performed, and, if a hearing is scheduled, must be filed at least three working days before the hearing. . . . Failure by the attorney to file the request and affidavit in accordance with this paragraph is considered a waiver of the attorney's right to recover a reasonable fee in excess of the statutory minimum fee under AS 23.30.145(a) . . .








